UIdaho Law Digital Commons @ UIdaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

2-11-2015

Caldwell v. State Appellant's Brief Dckt. 42153

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the Case

Richard Myers Caldwell appeals from the district court's Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law and Judgment dismissing his petition for post-conviction relief. Mr. Caldwell asserts that the district court erred when it summarily dismissed his claim that trial counsel was ineffective for failing to interview and call a witness. He also asserts that the district court erred when it did not address his claim that trial counsel was ineffective for failing to file or consult with him about an appeal, or his claim that his Eighth Amendment rights had been violated.

Statement of the Facts and Course of Proceedings

Following a jury trial, Mr. Caldwell was convicted of two counts of lewd conduct with a minor child under the age of sixteen, felony, in violation of Idaho Code § 18-1508, and five counts of sexual abuse of a minor child under the age of sixteen, felony, in violation of I.C. § 18-1506. (R., p.566.) He was acquitted of one count of lewd conduct. (R., p.566.) The district court, for each count, imposed a concurrent unified sentence of twenty years, with three years fixed. (R., p.566.)

Trial counsel did not file an appeal from the judgment of conviction and sentences, but Mr. Caldwell filed, *pro se*, an Idaho Criminal Rule 35 (*hereinafter*, Rule 35) motion for the reduction of his sentences. (*See* R., pp.124, 567.) The district court denied the Rule 35 motion, and in Mr. Caldwell's appeal from the denial of the Rule 35 motion, the Idaho Court of Appeals affirmed the decision of the district court. (R., pp.139-42; *see* R., pp. 124, 567.)

Meanwhile, Mr. Caldwell filed a timely Petition and Affidavit for Post Conviction Relief. (R., pp.18-40.) The various grounds for relief in the post-conviction petition and supporting affidavit included claims of ineffective assistance of counsel, prosecutorial misconduct, and violations of Mr. Caldwell's Eighth Amendment rights. (R., pp.20-21.) Mr. Caldwell also filed a Motion and Affidavit in Support for Appointment of Counsel. (R., pp.41-44.) The district court then appointed counsel to represent Mr. Caldwell in his post-conviction proceeding. (R., pp.45-46.)

The district court ordered Mr. Caldwell's post-conviction counsel to file an Amended Application for Post-Conviction Relief. Upon the district court's order (R., pp.110-11), Mr. Caldwell subsequently filed a verified Amended Petition for Post-Conviction Relief. (R., pp.145-52.) He raised the "[i]neffective assistance of counsel in violation of petitioner's rights as set forth in the 6th Amendment to the United States Constitution" as a ground for relief in the amended petition. (R., p.146.) Mr. Caldwell's assertions in support of the ineffective assistance of counsel included assertion (a): "See attached pages numbered 3, 4, 6 and 7 which are incorporated by this reference as though fully set forth herein." (R., p.148.) "Page 6," part of the excerpts from the original petition, featured the assertion that "Defense counsel never filed an appeal after the trial and the sentencing. Defense Counsel never informed the defendant of his rights to file an Appeal and never consulted with defendant to see if he wanted to file the Appeal." (R., p.155.)

The ineffective assistance of counsel claims in the amended petition also included the assertions that Mr. Caldwell's trial counsel (b) failed to adequately represent him at trial, (c) failed to interview and call as a witness Dr. Tom Atkins, who

would have rendered an opinion that Mr. Caldwell did not exhibit pedophilic or criminal sexual tendencies, (d) failed to review with Mr. Caldwell prior to trial discovery materials and documents received from the prosecutor, (e) failed to review the recorded CARES interviews of the alleged victims, (f) assured Mr. Caldwell that he would retain a private investigator, (g) failed to move for the dismissal of the prosecution on the basis of a "corpus delecti" argument, (h) failed to request the removal of two separate jurors, (i) failed to correct the presentence report (PSI), and (j) met with Mr. Caldwell prior to trial for a total of three hours or less. (R., pp.148-51.)

With respect to the assertion that trial counsel failed to interview Dr. Atkins and call him as a witness, the excerpts from the original petition attached to the amended petition averred that Dr. Atkins was one of three psychiatrists who had documented Mr. Caldwell's Posttraumatic Stress Disorder. (R., pp.156-57.) According to Mr. Caldwell, trial counsel "did not want to use any character witnesses for defendant when there [were] many who offered to testify," which "had devastating effects on the outcome of the Trial." (R., p.157.)

The excerpts from the original petition further contained the assertion that Mr. Caldwell's "8th Amendment Rights to the Constitution of the United States have clearly been violated while the defendant has been incarcerated by the Idaho Department of Corrections. The defendant will suffer physically and emotionally for the rest of his life because of the permanent damage that has been done." (R., pp.153-

54.)¹ Additionally, the excerpts included allegations of prosecutorial misconduct. (R., p.153.)

The State then filed a Respondent's Answer to Amended Petition for Post-Conviction Relief. (R., pp.395-399.) In the answer, the State denied Mr. Caldwell's asserted grounds for post-conviction relief from the amended petition, including "any and all allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel." (R., p.396.) The State denied that the failure to call Dr. Atkins at trial constituted ineffective assistance of counsel because "Dr. Atkins would not have been allowed at trial to render an opinion that the defendant 'did not exhibit pedophilic or criminal sexual tendencies.' Such evidence would not have been admissible at trial" (R., p.397.)

The State subsequently filed a Respondent's Motion for Summary Dismissal, requesting the summary dismissal of Mr. Caldwell's post-conviction petition "on the general basis that, in light of the pleadings, answers, admissions, and the record of the underlying criminal case, the petition fails to raise a genuine issue of material fact." (R., pp.404-05.) The State argued that "Richard Caldwell's ineffective assistance of counsel claims fail to raise a genuine issue of material fact regarding both deficient performance and resulting prejudice." (R., p.405.) In the accompanying Respondent's Brief in Support of Motion for Summary Dismissal (R., pp.406-13), the State similarly contended that none of Mr. Caldwell's ineffective assistance of counsel claims "meet the *Strickland* standard two-prong analysis." (R., p.409.)

¹ The affidavit filed in support of the original petition asserted that the Eighth Amendment violations included being forced to live in unhealthy and unsanitary living conditions, and not getting proper medical treatment after suffering multiple strokes. (R., pp.36-37.)

The State specifically argued that the ineffective assistance of counsel claim on trial counsel's failure to introduce Dr. Atkins at trial was without merit, because "[t]he Idaho Rules of Evidence prohibit such testimony at trial. This allegation should be summarily dismissed." (R., p.410.) However, the State's answer, motion for summary dismissal, and brief in support did not specifically address Mr. Caldwell's claim that trial counsel was ineffective because he failed to file an appeal or consult with Mr. Caldwell about filing an appeal, nor did they specifically address Mr. Caldwell's Eighth Amendment claim. (*See* R., pp. 395-399, 404-13.)

At the hearing on the motion for summary dismissal, the district court dismissed some of the claims addressed in the State's motion for summary dismissal, including the claim that trial counsel was ineffective for failing to interview or call as a witness Dr. Atkins. (Tr., Jan. 7, 2013, p.22, L.11 – p.27, L.16.) The district court ruled that Dr. Atkins' testimony was inadmissible, "and, therefore, the prejudice prong is again insufficiently satisfied, and that allegation is dismissed." (Tr., Jan. 7, 2013, p.24, Ls.4-8.) In its subsequent Order Granting Partial Dismissal of Amended Post Conviction Relief Petition, the district court ultimately determined that the claims "involving defense counsel's preparation and the amount of time spent with the petitioner in advance of trial including reviewing discovery, CARES report, and the PSI after trial shall be litigated at a hearing for post conviction relief." (R., pp.508-09.) The district court did not specifically address the failure to file/consult about an appeal claim, or the Eighth Amendment claim. (See Tr., Jan. 7, 2013, p.22, L.11 – p.28, L.11; R., pp.508-09.)

The district court then held a court trial on the three ineffective of assistance claims identified in the order: trial counsel's failure to properly review discovery material

prior to trial with Mr. Caldwell, how much time in preparation trial counsel spent with Mr. Caldwell prior to trial, and trial counsel's failure to note objections in the PSI. (Tr., Jan. 27, 2014, p.26, L.23 – p.27, L.14.) The district court heard testimony from Mr. Caldwell (Tr., Jan. 27, 2014, p.30, L.13 – p.91, L.9), and from trial counsel (Tr., Jan. 27, 2014, p.92, L.10 – p.145, L.18).

At the close of his testimony, Mr. Caldwell mentioned that his prosecutorial misconduct claims had not been addressed in the district court's order. (Tr., Jan. 27, 2014, p.89, Ls.4-13.) He then asked the district court to consider the prosecutorial misconduct claims. (Tr., Jan. 27, 2014, p.146, Ls.4-20.) The State requested that the district court dismiss the prosecutorial misconduct claims under Idaho Rule of Civil Procedure 41(b). (Tr., Jan. 27, 2014, p.154, L.13 – p.155, L.8.) Mr. Caldwell stated he was opposing the State's request and that he would prefer the district court handle the claims as part of the summary dismissal motion. (Tr., Jan. 27, 2014, p.155, Ls.18-24.) The district court indicated that it could instead rule on the prosecutorial misconduct claims as part of its findings of fact and conclusions of law. (Tr., Jan. 27, 2014, p.156, L.21 – p.157, L.1.) During the court trial, Mr. Caldwell's post-conviction counsel did not present any evidence regarding the failure to file/consult about an appeal claim or the Eighth Amendment claim, and the district court did not specifically address those claims. (See, e.g., Tr., Jan. 27, 2014, p.27, L.15 – p.28, L.2; p.146, L.1 – p.147, L.14.)

The district court then issued its Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law. (R., pp.564-81.) The district court granted the State's request to dismiss the prosecutorial misconduct claims. (R., pp.574-75.) Additionally, the district court determined that Mr. Caldwell had not established deficient performance with respect to

the ineffective assistance of counsel claims that trial counsel failed to adequately prepare, properly review discovery, or correct the PSI. (R., pp.578-80.) Thus, the district court dismissed with prejudice the post-conviction petition and denied Mr. Caldwell's request for post-conviction relief. (R., pp.580, 582-83.) However, the district court did not specifically address the failure to file/consult about an appeal claim, or the Eighth Amendment claim, in its findings of fact and conclusions of law. (*See* R., pp.564-81.)

Mr. Caldwell filed a Notice of Appeal timely from the district court's Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law and Judgment dismissing with prejudice his post-conviction petition. (R., pp.584-88.)

ISSUES

- 1. Did the district court err when it summarily dismissed Mr. Caldwell's claim that trial counsel was ineffective for failing to interview Dr. Atkins and call him as a witness, because the district court improperly ruled that Dr. Atkins' testimony was inadmissible?
- 2. Did the district court err when it dismissed Mr. Caldwell's petition, because it did not address the claim that trial counsel was ineffective for failing to file or consult with him about an appeal, or the claim that his Eighth Amendment rights had been violated?

ARGUMENT

١.

<u>The District Court Erred When It Summarily Dismissed Mr. Caldwell's Claim That Trial</u> <u>Counsel Was Ineffective For Failing To Interview Dr. Atkins And Call Him As A Witness,</u> <u>Because The District Court Improperly Ruled That Dr. Atkins' Testimony</u> <u>Was Inadmissible</u>

A. Introduction

Mr. Caldwell asserts that the district court erred by summarily dismissing his claim that trial counsel was ineffective for failing to interview Dr. Atkins and call him as a witness, because the district court improperly ruled that Dr. Atkins' testimony was inadmissible. Dr. Atkins' testimony was actually admissible under Idaho Rule of Evidence 404(a)(1). Mr. Caldwell raised a genuine issue of material fact as to whether trial counsel performed deficiently by failing to interview Dr. Atkins and call him as a witness, and as to whether he was prejudiced by trial counsel's deficient performance. Thus, Mr. Caldwell is entitled to an evidentiary hearing on this claim.

B. <u>Standard Of Review And Applicable Law</u>

"An application for post-conviction relief under the Uniform Post Conviction Procedure Act (UPCPA) is civil in nature." *Charboneau v. State*, 144 Idaho 900, 903 (2007). Like any other civil plaintiff, a petitioner for post-conviction relief must prove by a preponderance of the evidence the factual allegations upon which the application for post-conviction relief is based. *Id.* However, unlike a complaint in a normal civil action, "an application for post-conviction relief must allegations, or must state why such supporting evidence is not included." *Id.* (citing I.C. § 19-4903).

"Summary disposition of a petition for post-conviction relief is appropriate if the applicant's evidence raises no genuine issue of material fact." *Id.* (citing I.C. § 19-4906(b) & (c)). "A material fact has some logical connection with the consequential facts, and therefore is determined by its relationship to the legal theories presented by the parties. If such a factual issue is presented, an evidentiary hearing must be conducted." *State v. Yakovac*, 145 Idaho 437, 444 (2008) (internal quotation marks, citation, and alteration omitted).

On review of a summary dismissal of a post-conviction petition, an appellate court "will determine whether a genuine issue of fact exists based on the pleadings, depositions and admissions together with any affidavits on file and will liberally construe the facts and reasonable inferences in favor of the non-moving party." *Charboneau*, 144 Idaho at 903. "A court is required to accept the petitioner's unrebutted allegations as true, but need not accept the petitioner's conclusions." *Id.* "When the alleged facts, even if true, would not entitle the applicant to relief, the trial court may dismiss the application without holding an evidentiary hearing." *Id.* Alleged facts would not entitle the applicant to relief, the trial court may dismiss the applicant to relief when "(1) they are clearly disproved by the record of the original proceedings, or (2) do not justify relief as a matter of law." *Id.*

The appellate court exercises free review over questions of law. *Rhoades v. State*, 148 Idaho 247, 250 (2009). Determination of the proper legal standard is a question of law. *State v. LePage*, 138 Idaho 803, 807 (Ct. App. 2003).

C. <u>The District Court Improperly Ruled That Dr. Atkins' Testimony Was</u> <u>Inadmissible, Because His Testimony Was Admissible Under Idaho Rule Of</u> <u>Evidence 404(a)(1)</u>

Mr. Caldwell asserts that the district court improperly ruled that Dr. Atkins' testimony was inadmissible. Dr. Atkins' testimony was actually admissible under Idaho Rule of Evidence 404(a)(1).

A claim of ineffective assistance of counsel may properly be brought under the UPCPA. *Barcella v. State*, 148 Idaho 469, 477 (Ct. App. 2009). "Claims for ineffective assistance of counsel are reviewed utilizing the two-prong test set forth in *Strickland v. Washington*, [466 U.S. 668 (1984)]." *Yakovac*, 145 Idaho at 444. "To prevail on such a claim, the applicant for post-conviction relief must demonstrate (1) counsel's performance fell below an objective standard of reasonableness; and (2) there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's errors, the result would have been different." *Id.*

To establish a deficiency, the petitioner must show that the attorney's performance fell below an objective standard of reasonableness. *McKay v. State*, 148 Idaho 567, 571 (2010). "When evaluating an ineffective assistance of counsel claim," an appellate court "does not second-guess strategic and tactical decisions, and such decisions cannot serve as a basis for post-conviction relief unless the decision is shown to have resulted from inadequate preparation, ignorance of the relevant law, or other shortcomings capable of objective review." *Yakovac*, 145 Idaho at 444. "There is a strong presumption that counsel's performance fell within the wide range of professional assistance." *Id.* (internal quotation marks omitted).

To establish prejudice, the petitioner must show a reasonable probability that the outcome of the trial would have been different but for the attorney's deficient performance. *McKay*, 148 Idaho at 571. "A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome," which "requires a substantial, not just conceivable, likelihood of a different result." *Cullen v. Pinholster*, ____ U.S. ____, 131 S. Ct. 1388, 1403 (2011) (internal quotation marks omitted).

In the amended post-conviction petition, Mr. Caldwell asserted that trial counsel had been ineffective because he "failed to interview and call as a witness Dr. Tom Atkins." (R., p.148.) "Dr. Atkins was counseling petitioner prior to the trial in this action and would have rendered an opinion, if called as a witness at trial, that petitioner did not exhibit pedophilic or criminal sexual tendencies." (R., p.148.) Further, in the excerpts from the original petition attached to the amended petition, Mr. Caldwell asserted that Dr. Atkins was one of three psychiatrists who had documented his Posttraumatic Stress Disorder. (R., pp.155-56.) According to Mr. Caldwell, trial counsel "did not want to use any character witnesses for defendant when there [were] many who offered to testify," which "had devastating effects on the outcome of the Trial." (R., p.156.)

At the summary dismissal motion hearing, the district court made the following ruling on this claim:

Second allegation, as to this witness who is going to testify that he had no pedophilic tendencies, I'm not sure how you get that evidence in. I've researched that in my own right. Character evidence that he never molested my kid, so therefore, he didn't molest this kid, I think, is inadmissible, which is essentially what this is trying to get at. So had it even been offered, I don't think it would have been admitted and, therefore, the prejudice prong is again insufficiently satisfied, and that allegation is dismissed.

(Tr., Jan. 7, 2013, p.23, L.22 – p.24, L.8.) Similarly, in the order granting the partial summary dismissal, the district court dismissed this claim because, "Such evidence is not admissible." (R., p.509.)

The district court improperly ruled that Dr. Atkins' testimony was inadmissible, because such testimony is actually admissible under Rule 404(a)(1). In a recent case involving a lewd conduct with a minor under sixteen charge, the Idaho Court of Appeals held that, "Because character traits relating to a defendant's sexual morality with children are pertinent, or relevant, in this type of case, such evidence is admissible under I.R.E. 404(a)(1)." *State v. Rothwell*, 154 Idaho 125, 131 (Ct. App. 2013), *rev. denied* (2013).²

Generally, evidence of a person's character or a trait of character is not admissible for the purpose of proving that the person acted in conformity with the character or trait on a particular occasion. I.R.E. 404(a). However, "Evidence of a pertinent trait of the accused's character offered by an accused, or by the prosecution to rebut the same," is admissible. I.R.E. 404(a)(1). The *Rothwell* Court explained that, "In this context, the word 'pertinent' is generally synonymous with 'relevant.' Thus, a pertinent character trait is one that is relevant to the crime charged by making any material fact more or less probable." *Rothwell*, 154 Idaho at 130.

The *Rothwell* Court concluded that the majority rule, which provides that traits relating to a defendant's sexual morality with children are pertinent in cases involving sexual misconduct with a minor, was correct. *Id.* at 131. Further, it is correct to elicit

² The Idaho Court of Appeals issued the *Rothwell* opinion on January 4, 2013. *Rothwell*, 154 Idaho 125. The district court here held the hearing on the motion for summary dismissal on January 7, 2013. (Tr., Jan. 7, 2013, p.4, Ls.1-4.)

such testimony in the form of opinion or reputation evidence, because "Idaho Rule of Evidence 405(a) specifies that in every case where a person's character or character trait is admissible, that character or trait may be proved 'by testimony as to reputation or by testimony in the form of an opinion." *Id.* (quoting I.R.E. 405(a)).

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