Uldaho Law Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

5-7-2015

Caldwell v. State Respondent's Brief Dckt. 42153

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature Of The Case

Richard Myers Caldwell appeals from the district court's order summarily dismissing, in part, his post-conviction petition; and from the district court's order denying his remaining claims following an evidentiary hearing.

Statement Of Facts And Course Of Proceedings

In 2010, a jury found Caldwell guilty of two counts of lewd contact with a minor and five counts of sex abuse of a minor. See State v. Caldwell, 2012 Unpublished Opinion No. 523, Docket No. 38515, p.1. (Idaho App., June 21, 2012). The district court imposed concurrent unified sentences of 20 years with three years fixed on each count. See id. Caldwell did not file a direct appeal, but did file an I.C.R. 35 motion for reduction of sentence. See id. The district court denied the motion, and the Idaho Court of Appeals affirmed the district court's decision. Id.

Caldwell then filed a *pro se* post-conviction petition. (R., pp.18-40.) The district court appointed counsel to represent Caldwell on the petition. (R., pp.45-46.) Appointed counsel filed an amended petition alleging that Caldwell's trial counsel was ineffective in numerous respects, including for failing to utilize Dr. Atkins, who had previously treated Caldwell, to testify that Caldwell "did not exhibit pedophilic or criminal sexual tendencies." (R., pp.145-152.) The petition also incorporated by reference portions of Caldwell's original post-conviction petition, which included claims that trial counsel was ineffective or failing to file a

¹ The jury also acquitted Caldwell of one count of lewd conduct.

direct appeal, and that the conditions of Caldwell's confinement at the Idaho State Correctional Center violated the Eighth Amendment. (R., pp.148, 153-155.) Attached to the petition was a 43-page hand-written supplement in which Caldwell conducted a page-by-page analysis of the jury trial transcript and made several dozen allegations regarding the respective trial tactics of defense counsel and the prosecutor. (R., pp.157-200.)

The district court summarily dismissed four of Caldwell's ineffective assistance of counsel sub-claims, including Caldwell's claim that his trial counsel was ineffective for failing to call Dr. Atkins as a witness. (R., pp.508-510.) The court concluded that such testimony would have been inadmissible at trial, and that Caldwell therefore could not demonstrate deficient performance or prejudice. (R., p.509.) The district court's partial dismissal order did not reference either trial counsel's failure to file a notice of appeal, or the Eighth Amendment claim. (See id.) The district court then conducted an evidentiary hearing on the remaining claims. (Tr., p.22, L.7 – p.159, L.6.) Caldwell and his trial counsel testified at the hearing. (Id.) In a subsequent memorandum decision and order, the district court denied Caldwell's remaining claims and dismissed the entire amended petition, but again did not specifically reference the notice of appeal or Eighth Amendment claims. (R., pp.564-583.) Caldwell timely appealed. (R., pp.584-588.)

ISSUES

Caldwell states the issues on appeal as:

- Did the district court err when it summarily dismissed Mr. Caldwell's claim that trial counsel was ineffective for failing to interview Dr. Atkins and call him as a witness, because the district court improperly ruled that Dr. Atkins' testimony was inadmissible?
- 2. Did the district court err when it dismissed Mr. Caldwell's petition, because it did not address the claim that trial counsel was ineffective for failing to file or consult with him about an appeal, or the claim that his Eighth Amendment rights had been violated?

(Appellant's brief, p.8)

The state rephrases the issues on appeal as:

- 1. Has Caldwell failed to show that the district court erred in summarily dismissing his claim that trial counsel was ineffective for failing to call Dr. Atkins as a witness?
- 2. Did Caldwell waive any post-conviction claims he failed to support with evidence at the evidentiary hearing?

<u>ARGUMENT</u>

1.

Caldwell Has Failed To Show That The District Court Erred In Summarily
Dismissing His Claim That Trial Counsel Was Ineffective For Failing To Call Dr.
Atkins As A Witness

A. Introduction

Caldwell contends that the district court erred in summarily dismissing his claim that his trial counsel was ineffective for failing to utilize his doctor to testify that Caldwell "did not exhibit pedophilic or criminal sexual tendencies." (Appellant's brief, pp.9-18.) The district court erred in concluding that such evidence would have necessarily been inadmissible at trial. However, Caldwell has still failed to show that the district court erred in summarily dismissing this claim because he failed to allege facts, which if true, demonstrated he was entitled to relief.

B. Standard of Review

"On review of a dismissal of a post-conviction relief application without an evidentiary hearing, this Court will determine whether a genuine issue of material fact exists based on the pleadings, depositions and admissions together with any affidavits on file." Workman v. State, 144 Idaho 518, 523, 164 P.3d 798, 803 (2007).

C. Caldwell Failed To Raise A Genuine Issue Of Material Fact With Respect To His Claim That His Trial Counsel Was Ineffective For Failing To Call Dr. Atkins As A Witness

Post-conviction proceedings are governed by the Uniform Post-Conviction Procedure Act. I.C. § 19-4901, et seq. A petition for post-conviction relief

initiates a new and independent civil proceeding in which the petitioner bears the burden of establishing that he is entitled to relief. Workman, 144 Idaho at 522, 164 P.3d at 802; State v. Bearshield, 104 Idaho 676, 678, 662 P.2d 548, 550 (1983).

Idaho Code § 19-4906 authorizes summary dismissal of an application for post-conviction relief, in response to a party's motion or on the court's own initiative, if the applicant "has not presented evidence making a prima facie case as to each essential element of the claims upon which the applicant bears the burden of proof." Berg v. State, 131 Idaho 517, 518, 960 P.2d 738, 739 (1998). Until controverted by the state, allegations in a verified post-conviction application are, for purposes of determining whether to hold an evidentiary hearing, deemed true. Cooper v. State, 96 Idaho 542, 545, 531 P.2d 1187, 1190 (1975). However, the court is not required to accept either the applicant's mere conclusory allegations, unsupported by admissible evidence, or the applicant's conclusions of law. Ferrier v. State, 135 Idaho 797, 799, 25 P.3d 110, 112 (2001); Roman v. State, 125 Idaho 644, 647, 873 P.2d 898, 901 (Ct. App. 1994).

In his amended post-conviction petition, Caldwell asserted that his trial counsel was ineffective for failing to utilize Dr. Tom Atkins at trial. (R., p.148.) Caldwell asserted that Dr. Atkins, who previously treated him, would have testified that Caldwell "did not exhibit pedophilic or criminal sexual tendencies." (Id.) The state moved for summary dismissal of this claim on the ground that such evidence would have been inadmissible at trial. (R., p.410.) The district court summarily dismissed this claim on this same ground. (R., p.509.) Neither

the state nor the district court further analyzed the admissibility of the potential testimony or cited any applicable evidentiary rule.²

Character evidence is ordinarily inadmissible for the purpose of showing that an individual acted in conformity therewith on any particular occasion. I.R.E. 404(a); State v. Rupp, 118 Idaho 17, 19, 794 P.2d 287, 289 (Ct. App. 1990); State v. Harvey, 142 Idaho 527, 533, 129 P.3d 1276, 1282 (Ct. App. 2006). A criminal defendant may, however, offer evidence of a pertinent character trait, provided the prosecution is afforded an opportunity to rebut the same. I.R.E. 404(a)(1); Rupp, 118 Idaho at 19, 794 P.2d at 289. In State v. Rothwell, 154 Idaho 125, 130-132, 294 P.3d 1137, 1142-1144 (Ct. App. 2013), the Idaho Court of Appeals held, as a matter of first impression, that for the purposes of I.R.E. 404(a)(1), a "defendant's morality with respect to minors is a pertinent character trait in cases involving sexual misconduct with a minor." Thus, opinion testimony such as whether Caldwell exhibited "pedophilic or criminal sexual tendencies,"

² On appeal, the state presumes that the court determined that the evidence was inadmissible because it constituted character evidence. However, because Caldwell did not challenge the applicability of this ground for dismissal, it is possible that the court determined that the evidence was inadmissible for some other reason.

may have been admissible in Caldwell's trial, depending on the nature of the testimony in relation to the charges.³

However, Caldwell has still failed to show that the district court erred in summarily dismissing this claim, because he waived any argument that the proposed evidence may have been admissible pursuant to I.R.E. 404(a)(1). See State v. Manzanares, 152 Idaho 410, 272 P.3d 382 (2012) (generally, Idaho appellate courts will not consider arguments raised for the first time on appeal.) Despite receiving notice through the state's motion for summary dismissal that the court could dismiss this claim on the ground that the proposed evidence was inadmissible (R., p.410),⁴ it does not appear that Caldwell subsequently argued that the evidence was admissible. Caldwell thus deprived the district court of the

³ For example, Caldwell would not have been permitted to prove the relevant character trait through testimony of "specific acts of 'nonmolestation,'" but may have been permitted to prove such traits through Dr. Atkins' stated opinion of the trait "based on [his] long-term observation of the defendant's course of consistently normal behavior" towards children. See Rothwell, 154 Idaho at 131-132, 294 P.3d at 1143-1144 (citation omitted). Of course, any such testimony would open the door for the state to introduce evidence to rebut the trait. Because, as discussed below, Caldwell failed to present context or foundation for Dr. Atkins' proposed testimony, the district court not have evaluated, without speculation, whether such evidence was admissible or not under the facts of this case.

⁴ In the post-conviction arena, the state's motion for summary dismissal under I.C. § 19-4906(c) and a district court's notice of intent to dismiss under I.C. § 19-4906(b) are alternative ways to accomplish the same ends, that being notice of the particularized bases for summary dismissal and opportunity for the petitioner to respond to those proposed grounds for dismissal. See Franck-Teel v. State, 143 Idaho 664, 668, 152 P.3d 25, 29 (Ct. App. 2006). A district court need not provide the applicant with notice of the court's dismissal if it is in response to a sufficiently specific motion from the State. Saykhamchone v. State, 127 Idaho 319, 321-22, 900 P.2d 795, 797-98 (1995).

opportunity to evaluate any argument that the proposed evidence was admissible pursuant to I.R.E. 404(a)(1), or some other rule.

Additionally, if a district court reaches the correct result by an erroneous theory, this Court will affirm the order upon the correct theory. Murray v. State, 156 Idaho 159, 164, 321 P.3d 709, 714 (2014); see also Ridgley v. State, 148 Idaho 671, 676, 227 P.3d 925, 930 (2010) ("[b]ecause this Court employs the same standards on appellate review that the trial court applies in considering summary dismissal of a petition for post-conviction relief, if [the petitioner] failed to provide admissible evidence supporting [his] claims, they were properly dismissed") (citations omitted).

The decision to call a witness falls within the category of trial counsel's strategic or tactical decisions and will generally not be second-guessed. Rodgers v. State, 129 Idaho 720, 724, 932 P.2d 348, 352 (1997). Thus, to prevail on a claim that trial counsel was ineffective in failing to call a specific witness, a petitioner is required to present facts, supported by admissible evidence, to "overcome the presumption that, under the circumstances, the challenged action 'might be considered sound trial strategy." Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 689 (1984) (citation omitted); see also Aeschliman v. State, 132 Idaho 397, 405, 973 P.2d 749, 757 (Ct. App. 1999) ("in order to succeed on an ineffective assistance of counsel claim based on counsel's failure to procure an expert witness, the accused must assert facts that would have been discovered by additional investigation and should offer expert testimony that would have been produced" if the expert had been hired) (emphasis in

original, citation and quotation omitted). Additionally, the petitioner must show that the decision not to call a witness was the result of an objective shortcoming such as inadequate preparation. <u>Campbell v. State</u>, 130 Idaho 546, 548, 944 P.2d 143, 145 (Ct. App. 1997).

Caldwell's amended petition contains no evidence supporting his conclusory assertion that Dr. Atkins would have testified that Caldwell "did not exhibit pedophilic or criminal sexual tendencies." Caldwell did not submit an affidavit from Dr. Atkins or any other evidence demonstrating the foundational basis or context of Dr. Atkins' opinions and/or observations regarding Caldwell's morality with respect to minors. Caldwell also failed to allege facts asserting that trial counsel's decision not to call Dr. Atkins was based upon some objective shortcoming. Caldwell therefore failed to raise a genuine issue of material fact regarding whether his trial counsel was deficient for declining to use such potential evidence, or that he was prejudiced by any deficiency. See Strickland, 466 U.S. at 687-688.

In the alternative, Caldwell failed to raise a genuine issue of material fact regarding this claim because the case he relies on, Rothwell, was not decided until several years after his jury trial. Caldwell thus cannot demonstrate, as a matter of law, that his trial counsel was deficient for failing to utilize Rothwell, in which the Court of Appeals decided the relevant issue as a matter of first impression. See Brown v. United States, 311 F.3d 875, 878 (8th Cir. 2002) (holding that counsel's performance was not deficient for failing to predict future developments in the law); Nelson v. Estelle, 642 F.2d 903, 908 (5th Cir. 1981)

("[C]ounsel is normally not expected to foresee future new developments in the law...."); Schoger v. State, 148 Idaho 622, 630, 226 P.3d 1269, 1277 (2010) (observing that only in a very rare case would counsel's performance be deemed ineffective for failing to make an objection that would have been overruled under then-prevailing law).

While the district court incorrectly concluded that the proposed character evidence was necessarily inadmissible, Caldwell has still failed to demonstrate that the district court erred in summarily dismissing his claim that his trial counsel was deficient for failing to utilize Dr. Atkins as a witness. This Court should therefore affirm the district court's order summarily dismissing this claim.

II. <u>Caldwell Waived The Post-Conviction Claims He Failed To Support With</u> <u>Evidence At The Evidentiary Hearing</u>

A. Introduction

Caldwell contends that the district court erred by failing to specifically address all of the claims he raised in his petition for post-conviction relief. (Appellant's brief, pp.18-22.) Specifically, Caldwell contends that the district court erred by failing to specifically address his claim that his trial counsel was ineffective for failing to file a notice of appeal, and his claim that his conditions of confinement violated the Eight Amendment. (Id.) Caldwell, however, waived both of these claims by failing to present any evidence to support them during the evidentiary hearing, and by failing to challenge the district court's dismissal order below.

B. <u>Caldwell Waived Each Of The Post-Conviction Claims That The District Court Did Not Specifically Address</u>

Idaho Code § 19–4907(a) directs that a court in a post-conviction action "shall make specific findings of fact, and state expressly its conclusions of law, relating to each issue presented." The purpose of this requirement is to afford an appellate court an adequate basis upon which to review the district court's decision when a petition for post-conviction relief has been denied following an evidentiary hearing. Davis v. State, 116 Idaho 401, 405, 775 P.2d 1243, 1247 (Ct. App. 1989); Maxfield v. State, 108 Idaho 493, 497, 700 P.2d 115, 119 (Ct. App. 1985).

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